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1 financial statements of the orell füssli group

1.1 consolidated income statement

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2009 2008

Sales to customers 4.1 302,377 365,317

Other operating income 4.5 3,909 1,887

Total income 306,286 367,204

Cost of materials –134,455 –156,481

Direct production costs –13,083 –18,649

Changes in inventories of finished products and work-in-progress –749 6,005

Capitalised costs 224 1,225

Total direct costs –148,063 –167,900

Personnel expenditure 4.6 –88,669 –98,816

Other operating expenses 4.7 –44,686 –46,312

Depreciation and impairment –10,297 –15,496

Gain on sales of non-current assets 4.18 4,557 –67

Profit from disposal of subsidiaries 4.37 4,000 21,196

Total operating expenses –135,095 –139,495

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 23,128 59,809

Financial income 1,686 3,046

Financial expenses –3,689 –5,197

Share of profit from associates – –70

Financial result 4.8 –2,003 –2,221

Earnings before income taxes 21,125 57,588

Income tax expenses 4.9 –2,993 –7,860

Net income for the period 18,132 49,728

Attributable to the shareholders of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. 14,699 47,962

Attributable to minority interests 3,433 1,766

consolidated statement of the comprehensive income

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2009 2008

Net income for the period 18,132 49,728

Currency translation effects 353 –5,309

Total comprehensive income for the period 18,485 44,419

Attributable to the shareholders of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. 15,066 42,838

Attributable to minority interests 3,419 1,581

earnings per share

in CHF NOTES 2009 2008

Earnings per share (diluted and undiluted) 4.10 7.50 24.47

The disclosures from page 14 to 44 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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1.2 consolidated balance sheet at 31 december

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2009 2008

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4.11 26,936 34,867

Marketable securities & derivative financial instruments 4.12 87 1,001

Receivables 4.13 42,801 41,692

Receivables from POC 4.15 40,210 43,035

Inventories 4.16 51,914 52,596

Current financial assets 4.17 4,537 5,551

Current income tax receivables 2,807 1,115

Total current assets 169,292 179,857

Tangible assets 4.19 110,835 110,903

Intangible assets 4.20 1,984 2,268

Leasehold property 4.22 80 90

Investments 4.23 2,479 2,866

Non-current financial assets 4.17 12,207 13,059

Pension fund assets 4.28 4,805 3,309

Deferred tax assets 4.29 2,902 1,070

Other non-current assets 979 902

Total non-current assets 136,271 134,467

Total assets 305,563 314,324

Liabilities

Trade payables 4.24 30,711 31,606

Prepayments from customers 50,062 58,723

Current financial liabilities 4.25 10,868 5,868

Current income tax liabilities 1,529 5,704

Other current liabilities 4.26 15,490 18,487

Current provisions 4.27 454 582

Total current liabilities 109,114 120,970

Non-current financial liabilities 4.25 3,108 3,566

Pension fund liabilities 4.28 457 398

Non-current provisions 4.27 414 491

Deferred tax liabilities 4.29 4,226 2,480

Total non-current liabilities 8,205 6,935

Share capital 4.30 1,960 1,960

Capital reserves 4,160 4,160

Retained earnings 4.31 164,106 164,720

Total equity before minority interests 170,226 170,840

Minority interests 18,018 15,579

Total equity 188,244 186,419

Total liabilities 305,563 314,324

The disclosures from page 14 to 44 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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1.3 consolidated statement of changes in equity

in CHF ‘000 Retained Equity before
Share Capital earnings and minority Minority Total

capital reserves net income interests interests equity

Total equity at 1 January 2009 1,960 4,160 164,720 170,840 15,579 186,419

Dividends paid – – –15,680 –15,680 –980 –16,660

Total comprehensive income for the period – – 15,066 15,066 3,419 18,485

Total equity at 31 December 2009 1,960 4,160 164,106 170,226 18,018 188,244

Total equity at 1 January 2008 1,960 4,160 131,682 137,802 14,978 152,780

Dividends paid – – –9,800 –9,800 –980 –10,780

Total comprehensive income for the period – – 42,838 42,838 1,581 44,419

Total equity at 31 December 2008 1,960 4,160 164,720 170,840 15,579 186,419

The share capital as at 31 December 2009, as well as at 31 December 2008, is comprised in 1,960,000 registered
shares with a par value of CHF 1.– each.

The disclosures from page 14 to 44 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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1.4 consolidated cash flow statement

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2009 2008

Net income for the period 18,132 49,728

Depreciation 10,508 13,508

Impairment and amortisation 754 328

Profit from disposal of subsidiaries –4,000 –21,196

Other non-fund related income and expenses –4,107 –1,075

Change in net working capital 4.33 –3,972 34,932

Income tax paid –9,228 –11,397

Interest paid –798 –1,172

Change in provisions and deferred income tax –1,765 –2,457

Cash flow from operating activities 5,524 61,199

Purchase of tangible assets –13,185 –48,363

Proceeds from disposals of tangible assets 7,349 148

Purchase of intangible assets –277 –584

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets – 5

Purchase of other non-current assets –77 –2,997

Proceeds from disposals of other non-current assets – 288

Acquisitions of investments – –46

Proceeds from disposals of investments 4,388 6,935

Proceeds from disposals of marketable securities 2 –

Cash flow from investing activities –1,800 –44,614

Change in financial liabilities 4,944 593

Dividends paid to minorities –980 –980

Dividends paid 4.32 –15,680 –9,800

Cash flow from financing activities –11,716 –10,187

Translation differences on cash 33 –518

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents –7,959 5,880

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 4.11 34,867 30,003

Effects of exchange rate adjustments on the opening balance 28 –1,016

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January after effects of currency exchange rate 34,895 28,987

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 26,936 34,867

The disclosures from page 14 to 44 form an integrated part of the financial report.
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2 accounting policies

2.1  general information

Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries (hereinafter the “Orell Füssli Group” or the “Group”) focus their
business on three strategic business segments.

The business unit of Industrial Systems covers the production and the sales of machineries and systems for
digital printing and encoding of bank notes, passports, security documents, plastic cards and packaging. The head
office in Germany and its several subsidiaries abroad serve and support their clients on all continents.

The business unit Banknote and Security Printing is path-breaking by its technology and quality in the area of
banknote printing, the production of identification and further documents with high and highest security
requirements. Due to extraordinary services, state-of-the-art equipment and extensive experience over many
years, Banknote and Security Printing is known worldwide by its clients to be a reliable business partner.

The business unit of Book Retailing occupies a leading position in the German-speaking part of Switzerland
with numerous large-format and specialist bookstores and the online shop www.books.ch. Furthermore, it offers
full service for key accounts like companies and public libraries.

Integrated in other business activities, the Publishing business stands as the traditional pillar of the Orell Füssli
Group. Focus is laid on non-fiction publishers and topics related to Switzerland. Finally, Photoglob Ltd. is the
largest post card publisher in Switzerland and distributes these commodities together with connatural print
products throughout the whole country.

Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. is a Swiss public limited company, domiciled in Zurich. The present consolidated
financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2010. The approval of the consolidated
financial statements by the shareholders will take place at the Annual General Meeting.

The principal accounting policies being used to prepare the present consolidated financial statements are
described below. They have been consistently applied to the presented reporting periods.

2.2  basis of accounting

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by the
fair valuation through profit and loss of marketable securities including derivative financial instruments. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Swiss Francs (CHF ‘000).

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, management needs to make estimates and assump-
tions which may influence the disclosed income and expenses, assets and liabilities, as well as other disclosed
information. Areas involving a wider range of judgment or a higher degree of complexity, and areas where assump-
tions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are listed separately in the notes under
reference 4.

The consolidated financial statements of the Orell Füssli Group have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The consolidated financial statements are further in accor-
dance with Swiss law and the accounting standards of the SIX Swiss Exchange. The accounting policies as stated
below have been applied for the presented reporting periods.

2.3  changes in accounting policies

In the financial year 2009, one new standard and several amendments of standards were enacted whose effects
on the accounting policies of the Group were not previously described in a concluding way:
IAS 1 (amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment pri-
marily affects the presentation of owner changes in equity and of comprehensive income. It does not change the
recognition, measurement or disclosure of specific transactions. The Orell Füssli Group included the amendment
in its accounting policies.
IAS 23 (revised), Borrowing Costs (effective from 1 January 2009). The option to recognise borrowing costs
directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset as an expense through profit and loss,
is eliminated by this revision. Such borrowing costs will have to be capitalised. The Group implemented the new
regulation in the financial year 2009.
IFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations –  Disclosures, and IAS 27 (amendment) Consolidated and Separated
Financial Statements (effective from 1 July 2009). The more significant changes in accounting for business com-
binations address the measurement and accounting of non-controlling interests, step acquisitions, equity trans-
actions, the handling of a loss of control of a subsidiary, of acquisition-related costs, of changes to contingent con-
sideration as a result of subsequent events, the effective settlement of pre-existing relationships, and reacquired
rights.. The Orell Füssli Group has implemented the amendments with the effective date from 1 January 2010
not including any retrospective adjustments.
IFRS 7 (amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendments clar-
ify and enhance existing disclosure requirements about the nature and extent of liquidity risk arising from finan-
cial instruments and their fair value measurement. The amendments introduce a three-level fair value disclosure
hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities. These disclosures are expected to provide more information about the
relative reliability of fair value measurements. The Group adopted the amendments in the financial report 2009.
IFRS 8 (new standard), Operating Segments (effective from 1 January 2009). The new standard replaces the pre-
vious requirements outlined in IAS 14, Segment Reporting. It governs the disclosure of information on the level
of business segments regarding the manner and the financial impact of the business operations, as well as
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information about the economic environment in which the entity operates. The financial report has been adjusted
in accordance with the new standard. The new requirements did not lead to a change of the business units. Please
refer to note 2.8 for further details.

2.4  new standards and interpretations

In the financial year of 2009, the IASB issued one new standard and several amendments of existing standards,
and one new interpretation was published by the IFRIC. The improvements either have no relevance to the
Group’s reporting or have not yet been conclusively analysed:
IAS 24 (revised), Related Party Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2011). The amendment of the standard sim-
plifies the disclosure requirements for government-related entities and clarifies the definition of a related party.
The Orell Füssli Group does not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statement.
IAS 32 und IAS 1 (amendment), Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation (effective
from 1 January 2009). Certain puttable financial instruments and some financial instruments that impose on the
entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation
have to be classified as equity rather than as a liability. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
IAS 32 (amendment), Classification of Right Issues (effective from 1 February 2010). The amendment specifies
that a rights issue offered pro rata to all of an entity’s existing shareholders on the exercise of which the entity will
receive a fixed amount of cash or a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments is classified as an equity
instrument regardless of the currency in which the exercise price is denominated. The amendment has no impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
IAS 39 and IFRIC 9 (amendment), Embedded Derivatives (effective for reporting periods ending on or after
30 June 2009). The amendments specify to what extent an entity would need to assess any embedded derivatives
in consideration of the reclassification of hybrid financial instruments. The amendment has no impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
IFRS 2 (amendment), Share-based Payments – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (effective from 1 Janu-
ary 2009). The adjustment includes changes in respect of vesting conditions and cancellations of share-based
payments. As the Orell Füssli Group has not implemented any share-based payment plans the adjustment will
not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 2 (amendment), Share-based Payments – Cash-settled share-based Payment Transactions (effective from
1 January 2010). The amendments clarify how an individual subsidiary in a group should account for some share-
based payment arrangements in its own financial statements. The amendments also incorporate guidance previ-
ously included in IFRIC 8 and IFRIC 11. As a result, the IASB has withdrawn these interpretations. As the Orell
Füssli Group has not implemented any share-based payment plans the adjustment will not have any impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 9 (new standard), Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2013). The standard introduces new reg-
ulations on the classification and measurement of financial assets. Publication of IFRS 9 represents the comple-
tion of the first part of a three-part project to replace IAS 39 with the aim to improve comparability and to make
financial statements easier to understand for investors and other users. The impact of the new standard on the
Group’s financial statements has not yet been assessed.
IFRIC 19, Guidance on Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (effective from 1 July 2010).
The interpretation regulates the requirements of IFRS when an entity renegotiates the terms of a financial liabil-
ity with its creditor and the creditor agrees to accept the entity’s shares or other equity instruments to settle the
financial liability fully or partially. The Orell Füssli Group does not plan to introduce such kind of transactions;
however, the interpretation will be included in the accounting principles and applied if needed.

Published in April 2009, the IASB issued a significant number of amendments in the course of the Annual
Improvement Project. Most of them are effective from 1 January 2010. The Group will implement these adjust-
ments on time, if necessary.
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2.5  consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all domestic and foreign entities if they are directly or indirectly controlled by Orell Füssli Hold-
ing Ltd., the latter holding more than 50% of the votes or being able to control financial and operating policies in
any other ways.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the direct or indirect control passes to Orell Füssli
Holding Ltd. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. On the acquisition date all identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary are measured at fair value. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share
in the net assets of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Effects on inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group compa-
nies are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in associates
Investments in associates in which Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. can exercise significant influence, are accounted for
using the equity method. Influence is considered as significant if Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. directly or indirectly
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights or can otherwise significantly influence financial and operating
policies.

Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost. Cost may include goodwill. The book value of the
investment is subsequently adjusted according to the Group’s share part of the associate’s equity.

Joint ventures
In 2009 and 2008, the Orell Füssli Group did not include any companies as joint ventures in its consolidated
financial statements.

2.6  currency translation

The items included in the financial statements of each Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the pri-
mary economic environment in which the Group operates (the “functional currency”). Foreign currency trans-
actions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency
using the closing rate on the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of transactions and from the translation at closing rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss Francs. On preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries in foreign currencies are converted into Swiss Francs at the
closing rate of each balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average currency exchange rate
of the financial year. Translation differences have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Translation differences will be recognised in the income statement on disposal of a subsidiary.

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries in foreign currencies are converted into Swiss Francs at the closing rate of
each balance sheet date while revenues and expenses are translated at the average currency exchange rate of the
financial year. The Orell Füssli Group used the following currency exchange rates for the financial year 2009 and
2008:

currency exchange rates

Closing rate Annual average rate

2009 2008 2009 2008

EUR at a rate of CHF 1.4877 1.4888 1.5102 1.5874

USD at a rate of CHF 1.0380 1.0561 1.0857 1.0831

GBP at a rate of CHF 1.6533 1.5286 1.6958 2.0006
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2.7  critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Group makes estimates and assumptions which concern the future. By definition, the estimates will seldom
correspond to related actual results. The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the next financial year are discussed below.

Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the
provisions for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determina-
tion is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues on the basis of estimates of whether additional taxes are due. Where the final outcome of these matters dif-
fers from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Construction contracts
The determination of revenue and receivable for construction contracts is based on the percentage of completion.
Each business unit uses different calculation methods that are based on the completed quantity of a production
lot and/or on the portion of the production stages carried out. If total revenues are sufficiently predictable and
directly attributable to the percentage of completion, the valuation is carried out by using the completed contract
method. Alternatively accumulated cost will be used for the accrual.

Tangible assets
The Orell Füssli Group regularly assesses the useful life of its tangible assets. Such assessment is based on esti-
mates which are substantially based on the technical efficiency, the applicability and the continued use of tangi-
ble assets.

Valuation adjustments
For the impairment of receivables, management must estimate the expected cash inflows from doubtful debtors.
This is based on experience gained from prior financial years.

For the valuation adjustment of inventories to its net realisable value, management must use methods that
require significant estimates. Management uses the range of coverage analyses for semi-finished and finished
goods. For the valuation adjustment of produced books, the year of their publication is taken into consideration.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets such as marketable and available-for-sale securi-
ties, is based upon quoted market price at the balance sheet date multiplied by the number of securities at the bal-
ance sheet date (level 1). Financial instruments that are not traded in an active market but whose fair value can be
directly or indirectly calculated based on other observable market indicators are determined by using this infor-
mation (level 2). The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be calculated based on observable market indicators is determined by using other valuation techniques
which require assumptions (level 3). The valuation methods differ pending on the financial instrument and will
be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements if necessary.

Trade accounts receivable and payable are stated in the balances sheet at their carrying value less impairment
provision. Due to their short term nature they are assumed to approximate their fair value. 

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

For any other financial instrument the discounted cash flow will be used and included in the valuation process.
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2.8  segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products and services that are sub-
ject to risk and returns different from those of other business segments. The business segments serve as basis for
the internal reporting to the CODM (chief operating decision maker). The CEO of the Group has been identified
as the chief of operating decision maker. The internal reporting is in accordance with IFRS and, therefore, follows
the same accounting principles as the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s business activities are designated into three segments: Industrial Systems, Security Printing and
Book Retailing. Other business activities include the publishing units as well as infrastructure services. Their size
is not material. Information about products and services of each business segment are provided in 4.1 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

2.9  revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of tradable, produced and printed goods are recorded as income after their delivery and their
acceptance by the client. Revenue is shown net of value-added-tax and any rebates. 

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised using the percentage-of-completion method in order to
record the portion of total sales for the reporting period.

Revenue from services, which are rendered for a certain period of time and which are invoiced periodically, is
recorded in the period in which the service is rendered. Revenue for settling transaction-related services is
recorded at the time the service is fully rendered.

Dividend income is recorded in the reporting period in which the right to receive payments is established.

2.10  impairment

Tangible and intangible assets are assessed for impairment. Such assessment occurs on the basis of events of
changes of circumstances which indicate that the value of an asset may be impaired. If such indications exist, the
recoverable amount will be determined. An impairment loss results, if the book value exceeds the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher value of either the fair value less selling costs or the present value
of expected future cash flows. The impairment is recorded in the income statement. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which separate cash flows can be identified. 

Further details on the impairment of financial assets will be provided in paragraph 2.17.

2.11  income taxes

Income taxes are recorded on the basis of the applicable tax rate of the individual countries and expensed in the
period in which they occur. Tax effects resulting from tax losses are recognised as deferred tax assets if it is prob-
able that future taxable profit will be available against which the tax losses could be used.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet based upon temporary differences between tax base
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount if they will result in future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
are recognised in the balance sheet based upon temporary differences if they will result in deductible amounts in
determining taxable profits, provided that taxable profits will be available in future periods for which the tempo-
rary difference can be used.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset will be realised or the liability will be settled.

Current tax liabilities and receivables can be offset against each other provided they refer to the same taxable
unit, the same tax authority and if there is a legally enforceable right to offset them. Deferred tax liabilities and
receivables can be offset against each other if the same circumstances apply.

Current and deferred taxes are recorded in the income statement as tax income or expense, except for deferred
taxes which were added or deducted through the purchase or sale of a subsidiary.
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2.12  cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash in banks and short-term fixed deposits with a contractual
maturity period of three months or less.

2.13  derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is concluded and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. The methods of calculation depend on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument. The Orell Füssli Group utilises derivative financial instruments only to hedge future cash
flows, however. The Group does not apply hedge accounting, but rather recognises all gains and losses immedi-
ately in the income statement. These instruments will be accounted for at fair value through profit and loss and
will be adjusted – also through profit and loss – throughout the term of the contract.

2.14  inventories

Inventories include raw materials, auxiliary material and supplies, semi-finished products, finished products and
trading goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of
the weighted average cost calculation. The cost of semi-finished and finished products contains direct production
costs including materials and manufacturing costs, as well as overhead costs. The net realisable value is the esti-
mated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the production and distribution costs. For the net real-
isable value of finished products, the range of coverage analyses is used, and for produced books the year of their
publication.

2.15  construction contracts

Construction contracts are medium-term and long-term orders which are generally governed by a contract for
work and labour. Construction contracts are recognised using the percentage-of-completion method (PoC
method). The PoC method measures the stage of completion of the contract activity in percentages; this allows
the determination of revenue for the reporting period and to recognise it as a receivable. Each business unit uses
different calculation methods that are based on the completed quantity of a production lot and/or on the portion
of the production stages carried out. Expected losses on construction contracts are immediately recognised as an
expense.

2.16  trade accounts receivable and other current accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable and other current accounts receivable are measured at amortised cost less allowances.
Doubtful accounts are individually measured and impaired. Indications for such impairment are substantial finan-
cial problems of the customer, a declaration of bankruptcy or a financial reorganisation is likely or a delay in pay-
ment for over 30 days occurs. In addition to these individual measurements a general allowance based on past
experience is made. 

As the Orell Füssli Group has a large number of internationally dispersed customers, there is no material con-
centration of credit risk. It is in the division of security printing where such concentration is most likely. How-
ever, the credit-worthiness of these debtors is high, since the most significant customers are national bank insti-
tutions or public authorities.

Provisions for doubtful accounts receivable are recognised in a special account. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows, discounted
by using the effective yield method. A trade receivable will be eliminated against the provision account if it can-
not be collected.

An increase of the provision for doubtful accounts receivable will be recognised as other operating expense in
the income statement, while any recovery of such provision will result in a decrease of the operational expense
accordingly.

2.17  financial assets

Financial assets are designated to the following four categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale investments. The designation depends
on the purpose for which the financial asset was purchased. Management determines the categories of its finan-
cial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates the designation at each balance sheet date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The designation is split in two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those which management des-
ignated at their fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is held for trading if it is principally
purchased for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are categorised as held for trading unless they
are used for hedge accounting. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are categorised as current assets,
if they are either held for trading or if they are realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with defined payments and not quoted in an active mar-
ket. They are classified as current assets if their maturity does not exceed 12 months after the balance sheet date.
Otherwise they are included in non-current assets.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities, for which the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. In 2009 and 2008, the
Orell Füssli Group did not hold any financial investment of this category..

Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets which are either designated as available-for-
sale investment or which are not designated to any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets,
unless management has decided to sell them within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recorded on the trading date. Trading date is the date on which the
Group commits itself to the purchase or the sale of the asset.

Financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially recorded at fair value plus transac-
tion costs. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at the actual price paid. The
related transaction costs are recorded directly in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised if the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are transferred and the Group has substan-
tially transferred all the risk and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recorded in the income statement. Available-for-sale investments are subsequently measured at fair value
and unrealised profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments are
recorded in the statement for other comprehensive income. For sales or impairments of available-for-sale invest-
ments, the accumulated fair value adjustments in equity are recycled to the income statement. If the fair value is
not determinable, available-for-sale investments are recorded at cost less impairment.

The new amendments of IFRS 7 have introduced a three-level fair value disclosure hierarchy for each category
of financial assets and liabilities, which is disclosed in note 4.12. Level 1 includes financial instruments whose fair
values derive directly from quoted prices in an active market for identical instruments. Level 2 includes financial
instruments whose fair values can be directly or indirectly calculated with the support of other observable mar-
ket indicators. Level 3 includes financial instruments whose fair values cannot be calculated based on observable
market indicators but by using other valuation techniques which require assumptions. In 2009 and 2008, the
Orell Füssli Group held a cooperative participation. These participations are measured at cost less impairment as
their fair value cannot be evaluated.

Loans and receivables as well as held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised costs using the effec-
tive yield method. The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence of an impair-
ment risk. In such cases, management estimates the fair value. The recoverable amount of loans and receivables
corresponds to the present value of the expected cash flows resulting from the financial asset. An impairment
loss is recorded in the income statement when the book value is higher than the estimated recoverable amount of
the financial asset. If, in a subsequent period, the impairment loss of loans and receivables becomes smaller and
this can be objectively allocated to an event that occurred after the impairment was recorded, the reversal amount
is recognised in the income statement of that period, to a maximum of the previously recognised impairment
loss.

2.18  non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as “held for sale” if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continued use. Such assets are measured at the lower
of their carrying amount or fair value less sales costs. They are disclosed separately in current assets.

Discontinued operations are disclosed as a separate item in the income statement if they are material. The Orell
Füssli Group did not identify any discontinued operations in 2009 or 2008.
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2.19  tangible assets

Tangible assets comprise machinery, technical installations, moveable property, leasehold improvements, vehi-
cles, IT and systems, property, buildings and fixed facilities.

Tangible assets are initially measured at cost. Costs include the purchase price of the tangible asset plus directly
related costs which occur for bringing the asset to the location and in condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Costs include also estimated costs for dismantling and
removal of tangible assets including the restoration of the site. Further, effective borrowing costs directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised according to the revised standard
IAS 23R effective from 1 January 2009. No changes occur for borrowing costs recorded in the income statement
before that date.

Tangible assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method over the period of their useful life.
An exception to the straight-line method of depreciation is machinery and technical installations directly used for
production purposes; their depreciation is carried out on the basis of their performance over the period of their
useful life. Land property is not depreciated. The period of depreciation may be adjusted according to operational
necessity. Depreciation begins once the tangible asset is ready for use. The estimated useful lives of each fixed
asset category are as follows:

estimated useful live of each fixed asset category

in years Estimated
useful lives

Machinery and technical installations 5–10

Buildings 30–40

Fixed facilities 15–40

Movable property, leasehold improvements, vehicles 4–10

IT and systems 3–5

Buildings under construction are fixed assets which are not yet finished or not yet operational. They are measured
at accumulated costs and are not depreciated.

Replacement investments and improvements of tangible assets are recognised in the balance sheet if additional
economic use is likely.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance of buildings and technical installations are recorded as expenses in
the income statement when they occur.

2.20  goodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise goodwill and other intangible assets, such as rights, licences and software. Goodwill
represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the acquisition date. Goodwill related to the acquisition of a subsidiary is included in intangible
assets. Goodwill is not amortised, but tested annually for impairment. Goodwill is measured at its initial cost less
accumulated impairment losses. A negative goodwill is fully recorded in the income statement.

All other intangible assets have an identifiable useful life. They are measured at costs less accumulated amorti-
sation and impairment. Costs of rights, licences and software are the result of the purchase price plus directly
related costs. Development costs for internally developed software are recognised as an asset if certain criteria
such as technical feasibility and availability of adequate resources are fulfilled, if the company’s intention is to
finalise the software development and to use or sell the software, if the company will generate probable future
economic benefits, and if the costs can be measured reliably. Rights, licences and software are amortised using the
straight-line method over the contractually agreed duration. Internally developed software is amortised using
the straight-line method over a maximum period of three years.

2.21  investment property

Property is classified as investment property, if it is held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and not
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes of the Group. Investment
property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairments in line with tangible assets. They are
depreciated using the straight-line method over a period of 15 to 40 years.

2.22  trade accounts payable

Trade accounts payable are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

2.23  dividend distribution

Shareholder’s claims to dividend distribution are recorded as liability in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the company’s shareholders.
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2.24  financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise borrowings, finance lease liabilities and other financial liabilities. Initially, financial
liabilities are measured at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently, they are stated at amor-
tised costs; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in the income statement over the period of the liability using the effective yield method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer the settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months.

2.25  leases

Leases of assets, in which substantially all the risk and rewards incidental to ownership are transferred to the les-
see are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are initially recognised in the balance sheet at the lower of fair
value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimal lease payments. The leased asset is depreciated over
the useful life of the lease term, whichever is shorter. The corresponding financial obligations are recorded as lia-
bilities.

Leases of assets, in which substantially all risks and reward incidental to ownership are effectively held and use
by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an operational lease are recorded in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.26  employee benefits

In Switzerland, Germany, France and Italy there are pension plans which cover the risks of age, death and disabil-
ity. Financing occurs by means of equal employee and employer contributions as well as returns from the invest-
ments made by the pension fund. The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

A defined benefit plan defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usu-
ally dependant on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to pay additional contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee services in the current and prior years.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet with respect to the defined benefit plans represents the value of the
defined benefit obligation (DBO) on the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets, adjusted for
unrecognised actuarial profits and losses and past service costs. The DBO is calculated periodically by independ-
ent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the DBO is determined by discounting
the expected future cash outflow, using the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of
the related pension liability.

According to the corridor approach, the net cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses in excess of the
greater of 10% of the fair value of plan assets are recorded in the income statement over the employees’ expected
remaining working lives. Other actuarial gains and losses are not recognised.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan
are conditional on the employee remaining for a specified period of time (vesting period). In this case, the past-
service costs are recorded in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recorded in the income statement, if the employee renders the
corresponding services, normally in the year of payment of the contributions.

The Orell Füssli Group does not foresee any option plan or other share-based payments either for employees,
management or board members.

2.27  provisions

Provisions are recognised if the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that a cash outflow will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. No provisions are recorded for future operational losses.

If the effect of the time value of money is significant, provisions are determined by discounting future cash
flows.
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2.28  share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as part of the shareholders’ equity. When the Group purchases Orell Füssli Hold-
ing Ltd shares (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any direct attributable incremental costs, is
deducted from equity. If treasury shares are subsequently sold or issued, any consideration is included in equity.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with treasury shares.
Therefore consideration paid for purchases of minority interests as well as consideration received from sales of
minority interests are recorded in equity. Any differences between consideration received/paid and minority
interests presented in the balance sheet are recorded in equity (economic entity model).
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3 risk management

3.1  financial risk management

The Orell Füssli Group is active worldwide and is therefore exposed to different financial risks such as foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The overall risk management and especially the financial risk management of the Orell Füssli Group focuses
on the unpredictability of developments of the financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance. The Group may use derivative financial instruments to economically hedge
financial risks. In the reporting period, the Orell Füssli Group did not apply hedge accounting according to IAS 39.

3.2  foreign exchange risk

As a principle, no business activities are conducted in currencies with high volatilities or considered otherwise
particularly risky. For substantial orders with a maturity period of more than three months, the hedging of for-
eign exchange risk using derivative financial instruments will be evaluated and entered, if necessary.

The Orell Füssli Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk particularly with regard to the Euro. The currency
exchange rate between Swiss Franc and Euro remained stable in the financial year 2009, however, on a rather low
level. In 2008, the Euro lost over 10 % of its value against the Swiss Franc, with its highest variance of 14 %
throughout that period. Based on this experience the Group has benchmarked a currency variation of 15% for the
sensibility analyses. 

If the Euro had weakened against the Swiss Franc by 15% on 31 December 2009, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been reduced by CHF 3,603,000 (2008: CHF 2,824,000). In the
opposite way the profit for the year would have increased to the same extent. Equity would remain unchanged.
Foreign exchange gains/losses would mainly occur on translation of Euro denominated trade receivables, non-
current assets, trade payables, and other current liabilities. The reaction of the profit movements in CHF/EUR
exchange rates is more sensible due to a decline in receivables denominated in Euro compared to the year 2008.
There were no material changes of the portion in Euro on the current liability side.

3.3  interest rate risk

As the Orell Füssli Group has no significant interest-bearing finanical assets, the Group’s income and operating
cash flows are not substantially exposed of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest risk by non-current borrowings issued at variable rates, while non-
current borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest risk.

Management’s policy is to maintain approximately 80% of its borrowings in fixed rate instruments. Basically,
no hedge activities such as interest rate swaps are used.

At 31 December 2009, the Orell Füssli Group did not have any material non-current borrowings in its balance
sheet. Therefore, the Group forgoes disclosure of sensibility analyses of the interest risk.

3.4  credit risk

Credit risk may arise from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions as well as
credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers . Bank and financial institutions need an independently eval-
uated minimum rating of “A” in order to do business with the Orell Füssli Group.

The Group has not issued a generally accepted credit limit due to the differing customer structure in each of the
business units. However, each entity assesses the credit quality of customers systematically, taking into account
the financial situation, the past experience and other factors. Material business activities in international environ-
ments are usually hedged by bank guarantees or letters of credit.

Management does not expect any losses from substantial receivable assets.

3.5  liquidity risk

The Orell Füssli Group monitors its liquidity risk through prudent liquidity management. In doing so, the Group
follows the principle of maintaining liquidity reserves higher than the daily and monthly demand of operating
cash. This includes the provision of sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding from an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Therefore a rolling
forecast of liquidity on the basis of expected cash flows is conducted and regularly updated. However, some divi-
sions are traditionally more in funds at the year end due to the seasonality of their business. Such funds will be
reduced again in the following quarter. The average liquidity reserves are usually considerably below the reserves
at the balance sheet date.
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At 31 December the available liquidity risk can be summarised as: 

liquidity reserves and credit facilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Liquidity reserves 27,023 35,868

Committed credit facilities 79,511 78,024

./. rental guarantees –3,644 –3,617

./. utilised credit facilities –11,384 –7,169

Total liquidity reserves and non-utilised credit facilities 91,506 103,106

Along with the committed credit facilities in local currencies in an unchanged range, the Group should be able to
provide sufficient liquidity to ensure ordinary business activities.

Exempt are significant investments in non-current assets as well as future acquisitions. In such cases an adjust-
ment of committed credit facilities may be considered. Furthermore there is the possibility of closing out market
positions; as of balance sheet date the authorised capital approved by the Annual General Meeting amounts to the
equivalent of 400,000 shares.

3.6  capital risk

When managing capital, the Orell Füssli Group’s objectives are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal structure to reduce the cost of cap-
ital. In order to reach these goals, the Orell Füssli Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to sharehold-
ers, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Orell Füssli Group monitors capital on the basis of net gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the total of the financial liabilities, the trade accounts payable, the
prepayments from customers and the other current liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is cal-
culated as equity, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.

Originally, the Orell Füssli Group’s expectation was an increase of its gearing ratio in the financial year 2009,
due to budgeted investments and extensive renovation work for the security printing business unit. The disposal
of the two subsidiaries and its online database of corporate and personal information business in 2008 the cash
outflow could be widely compensated. Therefore the net gearing ratio as of the balance sheet date remained sta-
ble. The net gearing ratio at 31 December 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

net gearing ratio

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Total financial liabilities 13,976 9,434

+ trade accounts payable 30,711 31,606

+ prepayments from customers 50,062 58,723

+ other current liabilities 7,625 8,841

./. cash and cash equivalents –26,936 –34,867

Net indebtedness 75,438 73,737

Total equity 188,244 186,419

Total capital 263,682 260,156

Net gearing ratio 29% 28%
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4 notes to the consolidated financial statements

4.1  segment reporting by business units

As mentioned in paragraph 2.1 business activities of Orell Füssli Group are designated into three segments that
provide the basis for the internal segment reporting by business units. Segment reporting provides information
on tangible assets and the income statement to the level of earnings before interest and taxes. It follows the
accounting principles in accordance with IFRS.

Industrial Systems
Disclosures in connection with the production and marketing of machineries and systems for encoding and per-
sonalisation of any printable products.

Security Printing
Disclosures in connection with the production and marketing of bank notes, security documents, passports and
further documents with high and highest security requirements.

Book Retailing
Disclosures in connection with the sale of books and similar products in numerous bookstores of the German-
speaking part of Switzerland and on the Internet (www.books.ch).

Business activities disclosed as “Other” include the publishing units as well as infrastructure services. Their size
is not sufficiently material to be disclosed separately in the segment reporting.

Financial results, results from associates and income taxes remain unallocated, as these positions are governed on
a Group level rather than by business units. Inter-segment sales and expenses are eliminated based on normal
commercial terms and conditions that would be provided to third parties. The consolidation effects are also dis-
closed as unallocated.

segment results 2009

in CHF ‘000 Industrial Security Book Total
Systems Printing Retailing Other Total segments Unallocated Group

Total gross segment sales 72,355 85,322 123,606 21,094 302,377 – 302,377

Inter-segment sales 181 1 23 32 237 –237 –

Sales to customers 72,536 85,323 123,629 21,126 302,614 –237 302,377

Depreciation and impairment –2,880 –4,061 –2,938 –331 –10,210 –87 –10,297

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) –4,427 16,704 6,308 –217 18,368 4,760 23,128

Financial result –2,003 –2,003

Share of profit from associates (Note 4.23) – –

Income tax expenses –2,993 –2,993

Net income for the period 18,132

Total tangible assets at 31 December 2009 16,633 81,080 12,614 335 110,662 173 110,835

segment results 2008

in CHF ‘000 Industrial Security Book Total
Systems Printing Retailing Other Total segments Unallocated Group

Total gross segment sales 105,004 102,945 122,742 34,626 365,317 – 365,317

Inter-segment sales –20 35 5 68 88 –88 –

Sales to customers 104,984 102,980 122,747 34,694 365,405 –88 365,317

Depreciation and impairment –4,511 –6,611 –3,518 –693 –15,333 –163 –15,496

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 7,275 23,983 3,423 24,317 58,998 811 59,809

Financial result –2,151 –2,151

Share of profit from associates (Note 4.23) –70 –70

Income tax expenses –7,860 –7,860

Net income for the period 49,728

Total tangible assets at 31 December 2008 16,451 77,280 16,546 472 110,749 154 110,903
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4.2  sales to customers and tangible assets by countries and regions

Industrial Systems and Security Printing are the two business units whose customer relations exist worldwide
without any geographic market specifications. The business segment Book Retailing and other activities find their
customers mainly in Switzerland and the neighbouring countries. In the 2009 and 2008 financial years, no
recorded sales revenue of a single country was material in an extent that would require separate disclosure, apart
from Switzerland. 

Therefore, the Group allocates its sales revenue in the following geographic segments as hitherto:

sales to customers by region

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Switzerland 180,105 201,970

Germany 14,326 14,551

The rest of Europe and Africa 69,061 74,070

North and South America 11,235 13,912

Asia and Oceania 27,650 60,814

Total sales by region 302,377 365,317

Total sales are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located.

The Orell Füssli Group owns tangible assets in the following regions:

tangible assets by region

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Switzerland 94,202 94,451

Germany 14,563 14,273

The rest of Europe and Africa 679 646

North and South America 1,391 1,533

Total segment assets 110,835 110,903

4.3  sales revenue with key accounts

Each business unit of the Orell Füssli Group serves a large number of different customers. In the 2009 and 2008
financial years, none of them has generated sales revenue for the Group in an extent that would require separate
disclosure. The business segment Security Printing generates the most significant sales revenue with key
accounts; among them are national bank institutions and public authorities. The Group does not provide names
or details about these customers. However, Swiss National Bank Ltd. is a major shareholder of the Orell Füssli
Group and, therefore, further information on related-party transactions has to be disclosed in note 4.38.

4.4  total income

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Sales of goods and products 305,758 354,533

Revenues from services – 12,109

Revenues from license fees 528 562

Total income 306,286 367,204

4.5  other operating income

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Rental income from operating leases 764 222

Other income 3,145 1,665

Total other operating income 3,909 1,887
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4.6  personnel expenditure

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Wages and salaries 74,440 83,484

Social security costs 5,447 6,126

Pension costs by contribution plans 2,135 2,245

Pension costs by defined benefit plans (refer to note 4.28) 1,559 575

Other personnel expenditure 5,088 6,386

Total personnel expenditure 88,669 98,816

4.7  other operating expenses

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Marketing and distribution expenses 14,750 15,676

Operating lease expenses 11,870 9,238

Repairs and maintenance 4,491 5,881

Administration expenses 6,650 7,318

Other operating expenses 6,925 8,199

Total other operating expenses 44,686 46,312

4.8  financial result

in CHF ‘000 Expense Income Balance 2009 Expense Income Balance 2008

Interest income and expenses

Bank borrowings –602 500 –102 –963 383 –580

Finance lease liabilities –227 15 –212 –267 44 –223

Total interest income and expenses –829 515 –314 –1,230 427 –803

Other finance income and expense

Net gains (losses) from securities held for trade –297 –313 –610 –586 631 45

Dividend income – 145 145 – 123 123

Share of profit/(loss) of associates – 88 88 –70 37 –33

Net gains (losses) from foreign exchange differences –2,212 1,251 –961 –2,863 1,828 –1,035

Bank charges and other finance cost –351 – –351 –518 – –518

Total other finance income and expense –2,860 1,171 –1,689 –4,037 2,619 –1,418

Total financial result –3,689 1,686 –2,003 –5,267 3,046 –2,221

4.9  income tax expenses

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Current income tax 3,293 8,085

Deferred income tax (refer to note 4.29) –300 –225

Total income tax expenses 2,993 7,860
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The income taxes on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to the profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

reconciliation of the income taxes

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Profit before income tax 21,125 57,588

Weighted average applicable tax rate of the Group 14.2% 16.8%

Income tax calculated 2,993 9,691

Different income tax rates –23 –63

Upcoming income tax rate changes –2 –

Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes 145 300

Revenue not subject to income tax –361 –2,250

Utilisation of tax losses recognised as tax assets –2 –70

Adjustments to deferred tax assets 459 –42

Tax effects related to other periods –213 275

Other –3 19

Income tax recognised in the income statement 2,993 7,860

The Group’s profit was exceptionally high in the financial year 2008 due to the disposal of two subsidiaries. Orell
Füssli Holding Ltd. is entitled to claim the participation exemption on the gain of such disposals. Also in the 2009
financial year, an additional profit could be recorded on the disposal of that investment. Furthermore, certain for-
eign entities based in countries with higher income tax rates than in Switzerland did not generate any taxable
profits in 2009. Consequently, the Group’s weighted average applicable tax rate was lower than in the previous
period.

4.10  earnings per share

At 31 December 2009 2008

Net income for the period in CHF ‘000 14,699 47,962

Weighted average numbers of shares in issue (in thousands) 1,960 1,960

Earnings per share (in CHF) 7.50 24.47

In terms of IAS 33 no dilution effects per share occurred either in 2009 or 2008.

4.11  cash and cash equivalents

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Cash at bank and in hand 26,844 34,867

Short-term bank deposits 92 –

Total cash and cash equivalents 26,936 34,867

The actual interest rate for bank balances and for short-term bank deposits ranged between 0.125% and 3.58%
(2008: 0.125% and 6.71%). Bank deposits have an average maturity period of 60 days.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, the fund “cash and cash equivalents” encompassed liquid assets.
Current account credits were not part of the fund “cash and cash equivalents”.
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4.12  financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities can be allocated to the following categories:

financial assets

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Held for trade

Marketable securities 13 15

Derivative financial instruments 74 986

Total held for trade 87 1,001

Loans and receivables

Trade accounts receivable 30,175 32,501

Financial assets 16,744 18,610

Other non-current assets 979 902

Total loans and receivables 47,898 52,013

Held to maturity

N/A – –

Total held to maturity – –

Available for sale

Investments (refer to note 4.23) 2,110 2,497

Total available for sale 2,110 2,497

Total financial assets 50,095 55,511

financial liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

At amortised costs

Trade payables 30,711 31,606

Financial payables 13,976 9,434

Other current payables 7,625 8,841

Total at amortised costs 52,312 49,881

At fair value through profit and loss

Derivative financial instruments 296 596

Total at fair value through profit and loss 296 596

Total financial liabilities 52,608 50,477

The contractual undiscounted cash flow of financial liabilities is as follows:

contractual undiscounted cash flow of financial liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Liabilities from Liabilities from
borrowings, borrowings,

trade payables trade payables
and other cur- Liabilities from Total and other cur- Liabilities from Total
rent liabilities finance lease 2009 rent liabilities finance lease 2008

From current financial liabilities

Due within 6 months 49,041 160 49,201 46,388 185 46,573

Due between 6 and 12 months 146 173 319 156 199 355

Total from current financial liabilities 49,187 333 49,520 46,544 384 46,928

From non-current financial liabilities

Due between 1 and 2 years 271 361 632 216 429 645

Due between 2 and 5 years 63 1,192 1,255 – 1,334 1,334

Due later than 5 years 625 1,152 1,777 645 1,585 2,230

Total from non-current financial liabilities 959 2,705 3,664 861 3,348 4,209

Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
of financial liabilities 50,146 3,038 53,184 47,405 3,732 51,137

The fair value of marketable securities, derivative financial instruments and financial instruments available for sale
is determined based on a three-level hierarchy as disclosed in paragraph 2.17 of the accounting principles. For each
level different calculation methods are used to estimate the fair value of the recorded financial instruments.
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fair value of financial assets

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Total Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2008

Held for trade

Marketable securities 13 – – 13 15 – – 15

Currency option contracts – – – – 277 – 277

Forward foreign exchange rate – 74 – 74 709 – 709

Total held for trade 13 74 – 87 15 986 – 1,001

Available for sale

Investments – – 2,110 2,110 – – 2,497 2,497

Total available for sale – – 2,110 2,110 – – 2,497 2,497

fair value of financial liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Total Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2008

Held for trade

Currency option contracts – – – – – – – –

Forward foreign exchange rate – 296 – 296 – 596 – 596

Total held for trade – 296 – 296 – 596 – 596

The Group has included a participation in the retailer cooperation Schweizer Buchzentrum as financial instru-
ments on level 3. According to IAS 39 such participation needs to be stated as financial instrument “available for
sale”. As no direct or indirect observable market information is available to calculate the fair value the valuation
is based on the purchase cost deducted by impairments, if any. The Orell Füssli Group considers the carrying
amount of the investment of CHF 2,110,000 (2008: CHF 2,497,000) as corresponding to its approximate fair
value. It is not planned to sell the position in the near future.

As per 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, several option contracts are stated in the tables above as
financial instruments held for trade. All of them expire within the coming twelve months and are linked to trans-
actions which fall due with high probability during the year 2010. As the Group forgoes hedge accounting, any
gain or loss of valuation will be directly included in the financial result and, on maturity, adjusted by the effective
realised gain or loss through the same accounts. The calculation of the fair value as per balance sheet date is based
on observable market information (level 2).

The contract values as disclosed in the following table do not represent the market risks; they solely provide indi-
cations on the upcoming transaction volume on the balance sheet date. The fair value at 31 December is based on
market values or based on calculations supported by standardised option-pricing models using market prices.

contract value of derivative financial instruments

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Currency option contracts

Currency option contracts in SGD – 4,326

Total currency option contracts – 4,326

Forward foreign exchange rate

Forward foreign exchange rate contracts in SGD 18,964 9,954

Forward foreign exchange rate contracts in EUR – 12,063

Forward foreign exchange rate contracts in other currencies 3,356 308

Total foreign exchange rate contracts 22,320 22,325

Total contract value of derivative financial instruments 22,320 26,651
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4.13  receivables

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Trade accounts receivable gross 32,000 35,470

Provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable –1,825 –2,969

Total trade accounts receivable net 30,175 32,501

Prepayments to suppliers 546 2,172

Receivables from related parties 2,858 1,278

Accrued income and deferred expenses 5,077 1,888

Other receivables 4,145 3,853

Total other receivables 12,626 9,191

Total receivables 42,801 41,692

The carrying amounts of the accounts receivable comply with their fair values.

4.14  trade accounts receivable

Taking into account the terms and conditions established with customers, the following table sets forth details of
the age of trade accounts receivable:

aging structure of trade accounts receivable

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Not overdue 16,219 23,124

Past due not more than 30 days 8,647 5,738

Past due from 31 to 60 days 2,515 1,259

Past due from 61 to 90 days 592 641

Past due from 91 to 180 days 1,058 2,541

Past due more than 180 days 2,969 2,167

Total trade accounts receivable gross 32,000 35,470

Provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable –1,825 –2,969

Total trade accounts receivable net 30,175 32,501

Provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable are based not only on decisions by individual judgment taking
into account the different customer structure in each division, but also on updated information about past expe-
rience. The loss was included in the income statement as “other operating expenses”.

provision for doubtful trade accounts receivable

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

At 1 January –2,969 –2,876

Increase in provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable –1,687 –1,775

Utilisation of provisions 1,682 1,270

Reversal of provisions 1,164 116

Translation effects –15 296

At 31 December –1,825 –2,969

Part of provisions for doubtful trade accounts receivable are individual allowances in an amount of CHF 896,000
(2008: CHF 2,226,000). The effective loss on accounts receivable within the past five years has always been less
than 0.5% of the annual turnover.
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Trade accounts receivable include amounts denominated in the following currencies:

trade accounts receivable by currencies

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

CHF 12,503 15,924

EUR 15,225 14,813

USD 1,842 1,168

GBP 541 596

Other 64 –

Total trade accounts receivable net 30,175 32,501

In the 2009 financial year, certain European subsidiaries of the Group forfeited receivables in an amount of
CHF 1,752,000 (2008: CHF 3,029,000).

4.15  construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts by using the PoC-method during the year ended 31 December 2009 was
CHF 17,315,000 (2008: CHF 29,464,000). The aggregate amount of costs incurred and the recognised profits
(less recognised losses) for all construction contracts in progress was as disclosed on the balance sheet date.

4.16  inventories

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Raw materials, auxiliary materials and supplies 19,212 19,519

Semi-finished and finished goods 17,742 14,408

Trading goods 7,952 11,009

Work-in-progress 7,008 7,660

Total inventories 51,914 52,596

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in the income statement amounted to
CHF 135,204,000 (2008: CHF 150,476,000). The write-down on inventories recognised in the income state-
ment during the financial year ended at 31 December 2009, was CHF –95,000 (2008: CHF 523,000).

4.17  financial assets

Current and non-current financial assets consist of receivables from finance lease and finance contracts as well as
from loan contracts. The financial assets comprise:

financial assets

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Current Non-current Total 2009 Current Non-current Total 2008
financial assets financial assets financial assets financial assets financial assets financial assets

Financial assets

Loan assets 4,342 12,083 16,425 4,022 12,403 16,425

Lease and finance contracts 174 124 298 291 656 947

Other current financial assets 21 – 21 1,238 – 1,238

Total financial assets 4,537 12,207 16,744 5,551 13,059 18,610
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Certain foreign subsidiaries enter finance lease contracts with their clients in connection with special production
facilities. The following details can be disclosed with regard to finance lease assets:

finance lease assets

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Present value Present value
Gross of future Unrealised Gross of future Unrealised

investments in minimum interest income investments in minimum interest income
finance lease lease payments 2009 finance lease lease payments 2008

Current finance lease assets

Due within 6 months 110 101 9 161 146 15

Due between 6 and 12 months 79 73 6 160 145 15

Total current finance lease assets 189 174 15 321 291 30

Non-current finance lease assets

Due between 1 and 2 years 134 124 10 332 307 25

Due between 2 and 5 years – – – 377 349 28

Due later than 5 years – – – – – –

Total non-current finance lease assets 134 124 10 709 656 53

Total finance lease assets 323 298 25 1,030 947 83

No contingent finance lease assets relating to production output are recorded and no provision on finance lease
assets was made.

4.18  non-current assets held for sale

In the 2009 financial year, the Orell Füssli Group sold a property in St. Gall that was no longer in operational use.
The asset was classified as tangible, as management decided on the disposal after the half-year financial
report 2009 was issued. Therefore, no prior reclassification to non-current assets held for sale was recorded. At
31 December 2009 and 2008, there are no non-current assets held for sale by the Group.
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4.19  tangible assets in 2009

in CHF ‘000 Machinery
Land and technical Other Assets under Total

and buildings installations tangible assets construction 2009

Cost at 1 January 108,531 104,231 38,509 17,220 268,491

Change in scope of consolidation – – – – –

Additions 1 2,096 4,355 1,617 5,341 13,409

Disposals –15,055 –1,171 –2,125 –2 –18,353

Reclassification 7,233 6,798 7,294 –21,431 –106

Exchange differences –31 78 –4 5 48

Cost at 31 December 102,774 114,291 45,291 1,133 263,489

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –68,474 –65,122 –23,992 – –157,588

Change in scope of consolidation – – – – –

Depreciation on disposals 12,559 1,170 1,829 2 15,560

Depreciation –2,852 –2,241 –4,727 – –9,820

Impairment –271 – –483 – –754

Reclassification – – – – –

Exchange differences 19 –83 12 – –52

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –59,019 –66,276 –27,361 2 –152,654

Net book value at 31 December 43,755 48,015 17,930 1,135 110,835

Insured value at 31 December 295,867

Net book value of tangible assets under finance lease 3,656 63 7 – 3,726

Committments for purchases of property, plant and other equipment 275

tangible assets in 2008

in CHF ‘000 Machinery
Land and technical Other Assets under Total

and buildings installations tangible assets construction 2008

Cost at 1 January 112,028 88,124 37,177 2,075 239,404

Change in scope of consolidation – –6 –1,595 – –1,601

Additions 1 193 26,283 2,860 20,252 49,588

Disposals –1,747 –8,954 –2,659 – –13,360

Reclassification 349 – 4,514 –5,068 –205

Exchange differences –2,292 –1,216 –1,788 –39 –5,335

Cost at 31 December 108,531 104,231 38,509 17,220 268,491

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –67,274 –70,813 –24,368 – –162,455

Change in scope of consolidation – 6 1,094 – 1,100

Depreciation on disposals 1,726 8,889 2,530 – 13,145

Depreciation –3,922 –4,275 –4,242 – –12,439

Impairment –38 –11 –279 – –328

Reclassification – – – – –

Exchange differences 1,034 1,082 1,273 – 3,389

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –68,474 –65,122 –23,992 – –157,588

Net book value at 31 December 40,057 39,109 14,517 17,220 110,903

Insured value at 31 December 255,979

Net book value of tangible assets under finance lease 3,729 61 – – 3,790

Committments for purchases of property, plant and other equipment 10,317

1 Additions include additions by cash purchase, by capitalised costs and by acquisitions.
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4.20  intangible assets in 2009

in CHF ‘000 Software and Rights and Other in- Total
developments licenses tangible assets 2009

Cost at 1 January 5,462 1,690 850 8,002

Change in scope of consolidation – – – –

Additions 1 152 125 – 277

Disposals –86 – – –86

Reclassification 106 – – 106

Exchange differences –3 – – –3

Cost at 31 December 5,631 1,815 850 8,296

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –3,223 –1,667 –844 –5,734

Change in scope of consolidation – – – –

Depreciation on disposals 86 – – 86

Depreciation –631 –38 –2 –671

Reclassification – – – –

Exchange differences 6 – 1 7

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –3,762 –1,705 –845 –6,312

Net book value at 31 December 1,869 110 5 1,984

intangible assets in 2008

in CHF ‘000 Software and Rights and Other in- Total
developments licenses tangible assets 2008

Cost at 1 January 8,156 1,761 939 10,856

Change in scope of consolidation –2,968 –13 – –2,981

Additions 1 545 31 8 584

Disposals –132 –88 – –220

Reclassification 205 – – 205

Exchange differences –344 –1 –97 –442

Cost at 31 December 5,462 1,690 850 8,002

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –4,740 –1,761 –939 –7,440

Change in scope of consolidation 2,242 13 – 2,255

Depreciation on disposals 127 88 – 215

Depreciation –1,039 –7 –2 –1,048

Reclassification – – – –

Exchange differences 187 – 97 284

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –3,223 –1,667 –844 –5,734

Net book value at 31 December 2,239 23 6 2,268

1 Additions include additions by cash purchase, by capitalised costs and by acquisitions.

4.21  further details on tangible assets

The workings and installations in the building of the Orell Füssli Group’s head office could be finalised as planned
in the 2009 financial year. The expenditures included investments in production facilities and machineries for the
security printing division.

Bank borrowings are secured on land and buildings for the value of CHF 577,000 (2008: CHF 0).
Lease rentals amounting to CHF 11,024,000 (2008: CHF 8,370,000), while CHF 846,000 (2008:

CHF 868,000) are related to other leased tangible assets. Operating lease expenses are included in the income
statement.
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4.22  investment property

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Cost at 1 January 466 466

Exchange differences –117 –144

Cost at 31 December 349 322

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January –232 –319

Depreciation –18 –21

Exchange differences –19 108

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December –269 –232

Net book value at 31 December 80 90

Fair value of investment property at 31 December 285 280

Amounts recognised in the income statement

Rental income 79 93

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property generating rental income –14 –13

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property not generating rental income –14 –13

The fair values of investment property are based on the appraisal by an independent valuer. The appraisal is also
based on the market value.

There is no commitment or obligation on repairs and maintenance of the investment property.

4.23  investments

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Investments in associated companies 305 305

Participation in cooperatives 2,110 2,497

Other investments 64 64

Total investments 2,479 2,866

At 31 December 2009 and 2008, investments encompass the participation in Orell Füssli Kartographie Ltd. of
24% and in Travel Book Shop Ltd. of 35%. The investment is accounted for an investment in associates in the
consolidated financial statements. At balance sheet date the carrying amount was CHF 270,000 (2008:
CHF 270,000) for Orell Füssli Kartographie Ltd. and CHF 35,000 (2008: CHF 35,000) for Travel Book Shop Ltd.
The investments do not include any goodwill either at 31 December 2009 or at 31 December 2008. Neither is a
listed company.

According to IAS 39, the participation in the retailer cooperative Schweizer Buchzentrum needs to be classi-
fied as a financial instrument “available-for-sale” (refer to note 4.12).

4.24  trade payables

The trade accounts payable can be allocated to the following currencies at their net book values:

trade payables by currencies

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Trade payables Trade payables Total Trade payables Trade payables Total
third parties related parties 2009 third parties related parties 2008

CHF 21,695 13 21,708 22,957 21 22,978

EUR 7,625 991 8,616 7,337 902 8,239

USD 348 – 348 258 – 258

GBP 39 – 39 22 – 22

Other – – – 109 – 109

Total trade payables 29,707 1,004 30,711 30,683 923 31,606
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4.25  financial liabilities

The carrying amount of financial liabilities corresponds approximately with its fair value. The maturities are as
follows:

maturities of financial liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December From Liabilities from Total From Liabilities from Total
borrowings finance lease 2009 borrowings finance lease 2008

From current financial liabilities

Due within 6 months 10,405 157 10,562 5,345 182 5,527

Due between 6 and 12 months 139 167 306 150 191 341

Total current financial liabilities 10,544 324 10,868 5,495 373 5,868

From non-current financial liabilities

Due between 1 and 2 years 246 335 581 198 396 594

Due between 2 and 5 years 53 1,025 1,078 – 1,142 1,142

Due later than 5 years 600 849 1,449 614 1,216 1,830

Total non-current financial liabilities 899 2,209 3,108 812 2,754 3,566

Total financial liabilities 11,443 2,533 13,976 6,307 3,127 9,434

Interest expenditure from finance lease liabilities was in an amount of CHF 227,000 (2008: 267,000).
No secured liabilities are included in the 2009 or 2008 financial liabilities. Finance lease liabilities are secured

effectively as the rights to the lease asset revert to the lessor in the event of a breach of contract.

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts are trans-
lated into Swiss Francs at the exchange rate of the balance sheet date.

financial liabilities by currencies

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December From Liabilities from Total From Liabilities from Total
borrowings finance lease 2009 borrowings finance lease 2008

CHF 600 62 662 687 62 749

EUR 10,843 2,471 13,314 5,620 3,065 8,685

Total financial liabilities 11,443 2,533 13,976 6,307 3,127 9,434

effective interest rates on financial liabilities

Per cent 2009 2008

CHF 0.83–6.25% 2.65–5.00%

EUR 1.42–7.75% 4.30%

4.26  other current liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Accrued expenses and deferred income 7,567 9,050

Derivative financial instruments (refer to note 4.12) 296 596

Other current payables 7,627 8,841

Total other current liabilities 15,490 18,487

In connection with the derivative financial instruments reference is made to note 4.12. The Orell Füssli Group
concluded several currency option contracts in order to hedge certain currency risks. Due to different maturities
the contract values will be reduced continuously over the next twelve months.
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4.27  provisions

Provisions are considered for restructuring, warranties, outstanding commissions and projects that need to be fin-
ished. Provisions for restructuring refer to obligations due to the social compensation plan of 1992. No provision
was made for legal claims either in 2009 or 2008. The maturities of the stated provisions as per balance sheet date
were as follows:

maturities of provisions

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Due within Due between Due later Total Due within Due between Due later Total
12 months 1 and 5 years than 5 years 2009 12 months 1 and 5 years than 5 years 2008

Provisions for legal claims – – – – – – – –

Provisions for restructuring 4 18 – 22 5 20 1 26

Warranty provisions 246 – – 246 447 – – 447

Other provisions 204 274 122 600 130 360 110 600

Total provisions 454 292 122 868 582 380 111 1,073

The development of the stated provisions in the 2009 and 2008 financial year is stated below:

movement in provisions

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

At 1 January 1,073 683

Additions (charged to income statement) 251 600

Reversals (charged to income statement) –213 –69

Utilisation during the year –245 –84

Exchange differences 2 –57

At 31 December 868 1,073

4.28  retirement benefit obligations

The pension plans of the Orell Füssli Group are related to retirement benefits for the employees. At 31 Decem-
ber 2009, the Group’s balance sheet includes pension fund assets of CHF 4,805,000 (2008: CHF 3,309,000) and
pension fund liabilities of CHF 457,000 (2008: CHF 398,000). The calculation according to IAS 19 results in a
net pension asset of CHF 4,348,000 (2008: CHF 2,911,000). The analysis of the pension fund liability and the
amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

fair value of plan assets

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

At 1 January 117,618 133,274

Expected return on plan assets 4,411 4,998

Employer’s contribution 3,056 3,125

Employees’ contribution 2,887 3,160

Curtailments, settlements, plan amendments – –10,420

Benefits paid –5,171 –4,278

Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets –1,299 –12,241

At 31 December 121,502 117,618

present value of benefit obligations

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

At 1 January –119,105 –130,273

Service costs –5,539 –6,104

Interest costs –4,169 –4,560

Curtailments, settlements, plan amendments – 13,067

Benefits paid 5,171 4,278

Actuarial gain/(loss) on benefit obligations –1,090 4,487

At 31 December –124,732 –119,105
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amount recognised in personnel expenses

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Service costs –5,539 –6,104

Interest costs –4,169 –4,560

Expected return on plan assets 4,411 4,998

Curtailment gain – 1,845

Adjustment due to IAS 19.58 851 86

Net periodic benefit cost –4,446 –3,735

Employees’ contribution 2,887 3,160

Total amount recognised in personnel expenses –1,559 –575

The actual return on the plan assets was 10.4% (2008: –9.7%)

The movement in the pension fund liability is as follows:

movement in pension fund liability

in CHF ‘000 Switzerland Abroad Total 2009 Switzerland Abroad Total 2008

At 1 January 4,174 –1,263 2,911 1,624 –1,443 181

Total expense charged to income statement –1,559 –60 –1,619 –575 180 –395

Employer’s contribution 3,056 – 3,056 3,125 – 3,125

At 31 December 5,671 –1,323 4,348 4,174 –1,263 2,911

Over the past five years, the development of the overfunding/underfunding and the actuarial gain/loss was as
follows:

overfunding/underfunding over five years

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Fair value of plan assets 121,502 117,618 133,274 121,750 118,461

Present value of pension obligations –124,732 –119,105 –130,273 –119,937 –120,702

Overfunding/(underfunding) –3,230 –1,487 3,001 1,813 –2,241

Limitation of assets according IAS 19.58 – –850 –1,260 –1,360 –2,336

Unrecognised actuarial (gains)/losses 8,901 6,511 –117 542 4,263

Asset/(liability) in the balance sheet – net 5,671 4,174 1,624 995 –314

Pension obligations abroad –1,323 –1,263 –1,443 –1,391 –1,308

Total overfunding/(underfunding) 4,348 2,911 181 –396 –1,622

actuarial gain/loss over five years

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 3,106 4,487 –7,547 2,967 –7,308

Change in assumptions adjustment on plan liabilities –4,197 – 7,833 2,635 –

Experience adjustments on plan assets –1,299 –12,241 181 –2,556 3,571

Total actuarial gain/(loss) –2,390 –7,754 467 3,046 –3,737

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

actuarial assumptions

Per cent 2009 2008

Discount rate 3.25% 3.50%

Expected return on assets 3.75% 3.75%

Future salary increases 2.00% 2.00%

Future pension increase 0.25% 0.25%

Life expectancy on the basis of EVK 2000 plus 4.50% 4.00%
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The expected returns of each asset class are based on the risk premium concept. Thereby it is supposed that the
market compensates investors by higher expected returns for bearing risk that cannot be eliminated by diversifi-
cation. Based on actual risk premiums and market outlook the expected risk premium for each asset class is esti-
mated. The portfolio return results from the weighted sum of the asset class returns less charges.

asset allocation

Per cent 2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 9.3% 9.8%

Bonds 46.1% 47.3%

Shares 23.2% 18.5%

Properties 16.8% 15.9%

Other 4.6% 8.5%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

The expected employer’s contribution will be in an amount of CHF 3,102,000 in the 2010 financial year.

4.29  deferred income tax

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset them and
then the deferred income taxes relate to the same tax authority. The details of deferred taxes assets and liabilities
as well as the changes in the deferred income taxes (net) are disclosed in the following tables:

deferred income tax assets and liabilities

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
income tax income tax income tax income tax

assets liabilities Balance 2009 assets liabilities Balance 2008

Cash and cash equivalents and receivables 463 –676 –213 724 –100 624

Inventories 1,657 –523 1,134 2,301 –570 1,731

Construction contracts – –4,878 –4,878 – –4,449 –4,449

Non-current assets 257 –3,411 –3,154 881 –2,091 –1,210

Current liabilities 3,277 –3 3,274 1,645 –4 1,641

Non-current liabilities 40 –45 –5 43 –44 –1

Tax loss carry-forward 2,518 – 2,518 254 – 254

Effects from offsetting –5,310 5,310 – –4,778 4,778 –

Total deferred income tax 2,902 –4,226 –1,324 1,070 –2,480 –1,410

changes in deferred income taxes

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

At 1 January 1,410 1,796

Effects of currency translation 214 –161

Change in scope of consolidation – –

Charges to income statement –300 –225

At 31 December 1,324 1,410

maturities of deferred income taxes

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December Current Non-current Current Non-current
due within due later than Total due within due later than Total
12 months 12 months 2009 12 months 12 months 2008

Deferred tax assets 547 2,355 2,902 534 536 1,070

Deferred tax liabilities –2,686 –1,540 –4,226 –1,287 –1,193 –2,480

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) net –2,139 815 –1,324 –753 –657 –1,410

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred tax income assets
of CHF 153,000 (2008: CHF 363,000) in respect of losses amounting to CHF 727,000 (2008: CHF 1,728,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income.
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The following table shows the expiry of tax loss carry-forwards which have not been used for the recognition of
deferred income tax assets. The applicable tax rate in case of realisation would be at 21% in the 2009 and 2008
financial years.

tax loss carry-forwards not recognised in the balance sheet

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Due within 12 months 285 495

Due between 1 and 2 years 68 667

Due between 2 and 3 years 11 192

Due between 3 and 4 years 311 11

Due between 4 and 5 years 52 311

Later than 5 years – 52

Total tax loss carry-forwards not recognised in the balance sheet 727 1,728

4.30  share capital

The number of approved ordinary shares is 1,960,000 (2008: 1,960,000). They are exclusively registered shares
with a par value of CHF 1 per share (2008: CHF 1 per share). All shares are fully paid.

4.31  retained earnings

in CHF ‘000 Balance Exchange Balance Balance Exchange Balance
2009 gross differences 2009 net 2008 gross differences 2008 net

Retained earnings at 1 January 170,496 –5,776 164,720 132,334 –652 131,682

Change –981 367 –614 38,162 –5,124 33,038

Retained earnings at 31 December 169,515 –5,409 164,106 170,496 –5,776 164,720

The exchange differences relate to the translation of the separate financial statements of the Group’s subsidiaries
into Swiss Francs. All associated companies prepare their financial statements in Swiss Francs.

4.32  dividend per share

The dividends paid in 2009 and 2008 were in an amount of CHF 15,680,000 (CHF 8.00 per share) and
CHF 9,800,000 (CHF 5.00 per share) respectively. A dividend in respect of the year ended at 31 December 2009
of CHF 4,900,000 (CHF 2.50) is to be proposed to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on
11 May 2010. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

4.33  changes in net working capital

The changes in the net working capital for the cash flow statement include the following positions in the balance
sheet:

changes in the net working capital

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Change in trade accounts receivable 755 –4,469

Change in inventories 654 –5,482

Change in other receivables 6,141 10,989

Change in trade payables –911 6,027

Change in other liabilities –5,924 26,880

Change in accruals net –4,687 987

Total change in net working capital –3,972 34,932
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4.34  contingencies

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s contingent liabilities for guarantees to third parties amounted to
CHF 8,435,000 (2008: CHF 9,121,000). The rental guarantees are valid for the next two to nine years. They are
subject to optional extensions.

contingencies

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Advance payment guarantees 4,241 4,954

Rental guarantees 3,644 3,617

Bank guarantees 550 550

Total contingencies 8,435 9,121

4.35  payables from operating lease contracts

The Orell Füssli Group rents property, machinery and fixed assets by means of operational leases. Some lease
contracts are non-cancellable, others have an option for cancellation of usually less than one year.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

maturities of future aggregate minimum lease payments

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

No later than 1 year 11,502 11,523

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 30,308 31,651

Later than 5 years 17,808 16,519

Total future aggregate minimum lease payments 59,618 59,693

In 2009, future aggregate minimum lease payments have not changed substantially in comparison to the previ-
ous period. The book retailing renewed several existing contracts with lease options and concluded new lease
agreements in addition.

4.36  business combinations

The Orell Füssli Group did not carry out any business combination in the financial year 2009, neither externally
nor internally of the Group.

4.37  disposal of subsidiaries

At 1 July 2008 the Orell Füssli Group disposed its 100 % investment in Orell Füssli Wirtschaftsinformatio-
nen Ltd. and Kompass Schweiz Verlag Ltd. to Axon Active Ltd., Lucerne. An additional gain of CHF 4,000,000
was included in the 2009 financial statements due to renegotiations on the purchase price.

In the financial year 2009, the Orell Füssli Group did not dispose any subsidiaries.

4.38  related party transactions

The Orell Füssli Group sold goods and services to related companies in an amount of CHF 21,359,000 (2008:
CHF 26,261,000). Goods and services were sold at related companies under normal commercial terms and con-
ditions that would also be provided to third parties.

The Orell Füssli Group sold goods of associated and related companies in the amount of CHF 7,276,000 (2008:
CHF 6,536,000).

At balance sheet date, the sale and purchase of goods and services to related companies resulted in receivables
of CHF 2,858,000 (2008: CHF 1,278,000) and liabilities of CHF 1,004,000 (2008: CHF 923,000).

In 2009 and 2008, the Orell Füssli Group continued to sell books and publishing products to related parties and
to employees at favourable rates.

No loans to related parties had been granted by the Group in the 2009 and 2008 financial years, and the Group
did not receive any loans from related parties during that period.

4.39  board and executives compensations

The Orell Füssli Group assigned salaries and other current compensations to the Board of Directors and Execu-
tive Board of the Group in the amount of CHF 3,045,000 (2008: CHF 3,228,000) for the financial year 2009. The
social insurance contribution amounted to CHF 407,000 (2008: CHF 411,000). One member left the Executive
Board in summer 2008 due to the disposal of the subsidiaries Orell Füssli Wirtschaftsinformationen Ltd. and
Kompass Schweiz Verlag Ltd., and was not replaced.

For the disclosures of the remunerations to the Board of Directors and Executive Board of the Group in connec-
tion with the transparency law reference is made to note 7.11 of the financial report of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.
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4.40  events after the balance sheet date

For the fist two months of 2010, Atlantic Zeiser GmbH introduced short-time working for about one third of its
workforce in its production plant in Emmingen (D) as it had already done in the previous year. However, Atlantic
Zeiser GmbH has returned to full-time employment since March 2010.

The German subsidiary Atlantic Zeiser GmbH acquired 74.9% of the shares of Berlin-based SOFHA GmbH
with effect from 1 January 2010. The purchase price was EUR 4,000,000. SOFHA GmbH is a software systems
company in the field of industrial digital printing solutions and is a member of the exclusive circle of Adobe® Co-
Development Partners with extensive source code access. Through the acquisition of SOFHA, Atlantic Zeiser
aims to accelerate growth in high-resolution inkjet systems and to penetrate into new spheres of application. The
remaining shares will be retained by the current management and can be acquired in full at a later date. The acqui-
sition balance sheet in accordance with IFRS is currently in preparation.

Atlantic Zeiser SDN BHD, a subsidiary of Atlantic Zeiser GmbH with its office in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, will
be included in the scope of consolidation with effect from 1 January 2010. The subsidiary aims to strengthen the
presence of the Atlantic Zeiser Group in the Asian market and, thus, will be included in the business unit of Indus-
trial Systems.

The Orell Füssli Group decided in March 2010 to sell its controlling interest of 71.05% in Photoglob Ltd. to the
minority share holder and managing director of the entity. The agreement foresees a step-by-step buyout. In the
2010 financial year, the investment in Photoglob Ltd. will be deconsolidated and included in investments in asso-
ciates effective from the date when the Group’s participation including rights and obligations will be reduced in
an extent that does not allow using the full-consolidation method anymore.

Furthermore, management of Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd. decided to fully integrate the activities of
St. Gall-based Rösslitor Bücher Ltd. and to legally dissolve the subsidiary.

According to an announcement published in February 2010, the Orell Füssli Group increases the management
autonomy of the divisions in the fields of IT and Human Resources and at the same time reduces the size of the
Group’s executive management team.

On 25 February 2010, the CEO of Orell Füssli Group Sönke Bandixen left the corporation with immediate
effect by mutual agreement. The search of a successor has been initiated. The chairman of the Board of Directors
Klaus Oesch will act as CEO ad interim.

No other events occurred between the balance sheet date and the date when the Board of Directors approved the
consolidated financial statements that add more information to any item in the consolidated financial statement,
that could put into question the going concern of the Group or that are of material nature.
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5 report of the group auditors

To the general meeting of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.
As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, which
comprise the consolidated income statement, consolidated balance sheet, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated cash flow statement and notes (pages 10 to 44), for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of
Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system rel-
evant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards as well as the International Stan-
dards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 give a true and fair
view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditors Oversight Act (AOA)
and independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our
independence. In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we con-
firm that an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Christian Kessler Arno Frieser
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 25 March 2010
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6 financial statements of orell füssli holding ltd.

6.1  income statement

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2009 2008

Income from investments 7.1 7,020 19,020

Other operating income 2,234 2,439

Total operating income 9,254 21,459

Personnel expenditure –1,563 –1,843

Other operating expenses –1,339 –1,512

Total operating expenses –2,902 –3,355

Operating income before interest and taxes (EBIT) 6,352 18,104

Financial income 4,023 4,859

Financial expenses –1,373 –3,855

Financial result 2,650 1,004

Operating income before interest and taxes 9,002 19,108

Extraordinary income 7.2 4,750 24,091

Extraordinary expenses 7.3 –132 –501

Income tax expenses 7.4 –190 –185

Net income for the period 13,430 42,513
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6.2  balance sheet at 31 December

in CHF ‘000 NOTES 2009 2008

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 598 9,690

Current financial assets 7.6 4,000 5,232

Receivables from affiliated and associated entities 44,164 31,531

Other receivables 397 130

Total current assets 49,159 46,583

Operating assets 78 21

Non-current financial assets 7.6 12,750 12,000

Investments in affiliated and associated entities 28,140 28,140

Loans to affiliated and associated entities 7.7 50,191 44,567

Total non-current assets 91,159 84,728

Total assets 140,318 131,311

Liabilities

Trade payables 66 143

Payables to affiliated and associated entities 7.8 15,556 4,114

Current provisions 5 5

Other current liabilities 1,365 1,469

Total current liabilities 16,992 5,731

Provision for restructuring 147 151

Total non-current liabilities 147 151

Share capital 1,960 1,960

Legal reserves 11,140 11,140

Unrestricted reserves 7.9 96,649 69,816

Retained earnings:

Net income for the period 13,430 42,513

Total equity 123,179 125,429

Total liabilities 140,318 131,311
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7 notes to the financial statements

7.1  income from investments

Income from subsidiaries is based upon the net income on 31 December 2009. The respective dividend payments
have already been approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Compared to the financial year 2008, profits of the subsidiaries are considerably lower. As a consequence the
resulting dividends are smaller.

7.2  extraordinary income

Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. had recorded an extraordinary income of CHF 24,046,000 in the financial year 2008 due
to the disposal of the two subsidiaries Orell Füssli Wirtschaftsinformationen Ltd. and Kompass Schweiz
Verlag Ltd. In 2009, renegotiations led to an additional profit of CHF 4,750,000.

7.3  extraordinary expenses

In the financial year 2009 and 2008, extraordinary expenses include single payments to pensioners of the Group
and further donations. In 2008, the impairment of an investment was recorded as further expense. 

7.4  income taxes

Income tax is calculated on the ordinary net income reduced by the dividends from subsidiaries in 2009.

7.5  net income for the period

Compared to 2008, dividend income from investments was considerably lower for the financial year 2009 due
to smaller profits of the subsidiaries. The disposal of the two subsidiaries Orell Füssli Wirtschafts-
informationen Ltd. and Kompass Schweiz Verlag Ltd. had a further positive impact on the result of the previous
year 2008.

7.6  financial assets

Changes of current and non-current assets increased in 2008 due to the sale of two subsidiaries. As a result of
renegotiations in the financial year 2009, a further increase of financial assets was recorded. Apart from the rene-
gotiated amount of CHF 4,750,000 the receivables are secured by first class bank guarantees.

7.7  loans to affiliated and associated entities

Loans granted to subsidiaries are generally due within one year. Therefore, they may change according to the needs
of each company. The demand for loans and overdrafts provided by Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. increased in the
financial year 2009 due to significant investments within the security printing business unit and lower cash
inflows in the subsidiaries.

7.8  payables to affiliated and associated entities

Christmas sales and the disposal of a property in St. Gall generated a significant amount of cash and cash equiva-
lents to the book retailing business in the last months of the year 2009. These funds were transferred to Orell
Füssli Holding Ltd. on the basis of a short-term loan.

7.9  unrestricted reserves

Following the approval of the Annual General Meeting held on 11 May 2005 the unrestricted reserves and
retained earnings have been merged together.

unrestricted reserves

in CHF ‘000 2009 2008

Opening balance at 1 January 69,816 59,139

./. dividends paid –15,680 –9,800

+ retained earnings from previous period 42,513 20,477

Closing balance at 31 December 96,649 69,816
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7.10  risk assessment disclosures

The Board of Directors and management of the Orell Füssli Group are responsible for the establishment and main-
tenance of adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Board of Directors of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.
is fully integrated into the internal risk assessment process. Organisational and process measures have been
designed and implemented to identify and mitigate risks at an early stage. The risk assessment process correlates
with the management structure of the business units.

The compliance officers of the business units coordinate the risk management under the control of the head for
internal risk control. Identified risks are systematically listed and categorised in accordance with the criteria estab-
lished by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The business units
and management of the Group are in charge of assessment and management of the risks. The staff functions of the
Orell Füssli Group are responsible for the basic principles, training, coordination and the monitoring. The head
of the internal risk control reports regularly about nature, comprehension and assessment of identified risks and
informs about the taken measures to the Board of Directors of the Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. and to the Audit Com-
mittee.

7.11  remuneration of members of the board of directors and the executive board

The Transparency Statute of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations came into effect on 1 January 2007, by virtue
of which all listed companies are obliged to make additional disclosures of compensation to directors and officers
under articles 663bbis and 663c, paragraph 3.

The information provided in this section conforms to the requirements of the Swiss Federal Code of Obliga-
tions (SCO), although the consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in conformity with IFRS. Since
the Orell Füssli Group has no equity-based compensation to disclose in compliance with IFRS 2, there are no val-
uation differences in the presentation.

Basic principles
Authority to stipulate remuneration for the members of the Board of Directors lies with the Board of Directors,
while the Compensation Committee stipulates the salaries of the members of the Executive Board.

The Orell Füssli Group has neither a share nor an option allocation scheme for member of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Executive Board. Remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board consists of a fixed
and a variable component. The variable compensation component for the Board of Directors is based on the div-
idend paid, while the variable compensation component for the Executive Board is based on a preset formula
which takes into account EBIT and the achievement of individually specified annual targets.

With the exception of contribution to the pension fund, the upper limit of which is defined by occupational
pension’s legislation, the Orell Füssli Group does not provide any specific pension funds for members of the Exec-
utive Board.

The remuneration stated refers to compensation made in respect to the appropriate reporting period. The tables
below therefore contain in full all entitlements to payments in respect of the 2009 financial year.

Loans and other payments
No loans were granted to current or former members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board in the
2009 financial year, nor were any guarantees assumed for loans granted to directors and officers by third parties.
The balance sheet contains no claims of this nature arising from loans as at 31 December 2009.

The Orell Füssli Group made no payments to current or former members of the Board of Directors, the Exec-
utive Board or related parties other than those listed in the tables below, and did not wave any claims against such
persons.

Share ownership
As per balance sheet date, no member of the Board of Directors or the Executive Board or related parties are listed
in the share register of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. Dr. Hans Kuhn is an Executive Vice President of SNB Swiss
National Bank Ltd., which holds 653,460 shares of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd. Balthasar Meier is Chairman of the
Board of Directors of a finance company which holds 12,600 shares of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd.
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Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors
Compensation for non-executive directors always applies to a period of office. Provision is made in the relevant
financial year for all compensation, even if these are not disbursed until the following year.

remuneration of members of the board of directors 2009

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2009

Social
security and Special

in cash in cash pension costs allowances

Dr. Klaus Oesch, Chairman
Audit Committee (Member)
Compensation Committee (Member) 201,000 63,813 23,452 – 288,265

Dr. Rudolf Rentsch, Deputy Chairman
Audit Committee (Chairman) 30,000 12,500 3,139 – 45,639

Dr. Rudolf W. Hug
Compensation Committee (Chairman) 22,000 12,500 1,130 – 35,630

Dr. Hans Kuhn
Compensation Committee (Member) 22,000 12,500 2,548 – 37,048

Balthasar Meier
Audit Committee (Member) 24,000 12,500 2,696 – 39,196

Total 299,000 113,813 32,965 – 445,778

remuneration of members of the board of directors 2008

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2008

Social
security and Special

in cash in cash pension costs allowances

Dr. Klaus Oesch, Chairman
Audit Committee (Member)
Compensation Committee (Member) 201,000 72,819 42,970 – 316,789

Dr. Rudolf Rentsch, Deputy Chairman
Audit Committee (Chairman) 24,000 40,000 3,927 – 67,927

Dr. Rudolf W. Hug
Compensation Committee (Chairman) 22,000 40,000 3,804 – 65,804

Dr. Hans Kuhn
Compensation Committee (Member) 22,000 40,000 3,804 – 65,804

Balthasar Meier
Audit Committee (Member) 24,000 40,000 3,927 – 67,927

Total 293,000 232,819 58,432 – 584,251

Remuneration of members of the Executive Board
The compensation of members of the Executive Board set out below corresponds to entitlements for the 2009 and
2008 reporting period. Provision is made in the relevant financial year for all compensation, even if these are not
disbursed until the following year.

remuneration of members of the executive board 2009

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2009

Social
security and Special

in cash in cash pension costs allowances

Sönke Bandixen
CEO Orell Füssli Group 373,200 89,856 72,696 8,549 544,301

Other members of the Executive 1,845,111 280,590 301,686 35,275 2,462,662

Total 2,218,311 370,446 374,382 43,824 3,006,963
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remuneration of members of the executive board 2008

in CHF Basic Variable Other
remuneration remuneration payments Total 2008

Social
security and Special

in cash in cash pension costs allowances

Sönke Bandixen
CEO Orell Füssli Group 362,004 142,510 72,238 8,399 585,151

Other members of the Executive 1,874,666 277,067 280,438 37,817 2,469,988

Total 2,236,670 419,577 352,676 46,216 3,055,139

7.12  legal notes required

in CHF ‘000 at 31 December 2009 2008

Contingent liabilities in favour of third parties 8,435 9,121

At 31 December 2009 Orell Füssli does not have any own shares.

7.13  major shareholders

At 31 December 2009 Total
registered Participation

shares in %

SNB Swiss National Bank Ltd., Berne, CH 653,460 33.34%

Fam. Siegert, Meerbusch, D 134,500 6.86%

No further disclosures are required by article 663b of the Swiss Federal Code of Obligations (SCO)

7.14  proposed appropriation of retained earnings and unrestricted reserves

The following proposal will be made on the occasion of the AGM on 11 May 2010, for the allocation of unappro-
priated profits and other retained earnings:

proposed appropriation of retained earnings and unrestricted reserves

in CHF ‘000 2009

Unrestricted reserves 96,649

Net income for the year 2009 13,430

Earnings available for appropriation 110,079

Dividend per share of CHF 2.50 –4,900

Total unrestricted reserves 105,179

If the proposal is accepted, the dividend amounts to:

dividend on acceptance of the proposed appropriation of retained earnings

in CHF 2009

Dividend per share 2.500

minus withholding tax –0.875

To be paid out 1.625
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8 report of the statutory auditors on the

financial statements

To the general meeting of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, Zurich
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Orell Füssli Holding Ltd, which comprise the
balance sheet, income statement and notes (pages 46 to 51 and 53), for the year ended 31 December 2009.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible
for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes eval-
uating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 comply with Swiss law and the
company’s articles of incorporation.

Report on other legal requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and
independence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our
independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to
the instruction of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the
company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Christian Kessler Arno Frieser
Audit expert Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zurich, 25 March 2010
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9 companies of the orell füssli group

significant investments

Nominal capital % of capital held 1

City, Country Currency in 1000 direct indirect 2

Affiliated companies for which
full consolidation treatment applies

Orell Füssli Security Printing Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 10,000 100

Orell Füssli Security Documents Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 2,000 100

Orell Füssli Technology Ltd. Zug, CH CHF 50 100

Orell Füssli Banknote Engineering Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 100 50

Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 5,000 51

Rösslitor Bücher Ltd. St. Gall, CH CHF 187 99

Orell Füssli Verlag Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 1,000 100

Photoglob Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 1,000 71

Orell Füssli Dienstleistungs Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 500 100

Atlantic Zeiser GmbH Emmingen, D EUR 869 100

Atlantic Zeiser Inc West Caldwell, USA USD 0 100

Atlantic Zeiser Ltd. Andover, UK GBP 0 100

Atlantic Zeiser SAS Créteil Cedex, F EUR 38 100

Atlantic Zeiser SA Madrid, E EUR 60 100

Atlantic Zeiser SRL Milano, I EUR 100 100

Tritron GmbH Battenberg, D EUR 200 51

Associated companies for which equity
consolidation treatment applies

Orell Füssli Kartographie Ltd. Zurich, CH CHF 210 24

Travel Book Shop Ltd. 3 Zurich, CH CHF 100 35

Other interests

Schweizer Buchzentrum 3 Hägendorf, CH CHF 13,230 17

1 Capital held and voting rights in % are identical except the participation in the cooperative Schweizer Buchzentrum.
2 Capital participation of the particular mother company.
3 Held through Orell Füssli Buchhandlungs Ltd.


